1994

John T. Balle, Alisha Balle, Amber Balle, John T. Balle, Amie Balle, Ashlee Balle, Andrea Balle, Anjalee Balle, Amanda Balle v. Bryce Thomas, Quinn Erickson and Kevin Roseman : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court by Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(k) (1993 as amended), which grants the Court of Appeals appellate jurisdiction over "cases transferred to the Court of Appeals from the Supreme Court." This appeal is taken from the final judgment of the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County, State of Utah, the Honorable Ray M. Harding, Judge, presiding.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

The following issues are presented for review in this brief:

1. Did the trial court commit reversible error when it granted Defendant Kevin Roseman's Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment?

a. Did the trial court properly determine as a matter of law that Defendant Roseman was not negligent?

b. Did the trial court properly determine as a matter of law that Defendant Roseman was without notice and therefore did not breach a duty of care owed to Plaintiffs?

In reviewing a case which has been disposed of by summary judgment, the appellate court must accept the facts and all inferences fairly arising from them in the light most favorable to the party against whom summary judgment has been granted. Winegar v. Froerer Corp., 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991). The appellate court will affirm only where it appears that there is no genuine dispute as to any issues of material fact, or where, even according to the facts as contended to the losing party, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Hunt v. ESI Engineering, Inc., 808 P.2d 1137, 1139 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), *cert denied*, 826 P.2d 651 (Utah 1991). Because a challenge to summary judgment presents only conclusions of law for review, the appellate court reviews a trial court's conclusions for correctness without according them any deference. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Garfield County, 811 P.2d 184, 192 (Utah 1991).

STATUTES, RULES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

Any statutes, rules, and constitutional provisions relevant to the disposition of this appeal are set forth in the text or addenda of this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 19, 1991, Paulette Balle, deceased, was fatally injured when the automobile she was driving collided with a horse on SR-73, west of Lehi, in Utah County, State of Utah. The Plaintiffs and Appellants in the present matter are the surviving husband and seven (7) surviving daughters, four (4) of whom are minors.

Plaintiffs and Appellants filed their First Amended Complaint in the Fourth District Court alleging negligence against Defendant Bryce Thomas. (R. 15) Shortly thereafter, Plaintiffs were able to conduct sufficient discovery to determine that Defendant Thomas should not be a party to the action. Plaintiffs consequently stipulated to the dismissal of all claims against Defendant Thomas and he is therefore, not a party to this appeal. (R. 26)

On August 31, 1992, Plaintiffs filed their Second Amended Complaint in the Fourth District Court against Defendants Kevin Roseman and Quinn Erickson alleging negligence on the part of Defendants as the proximate cause of the collision fatally injuring Paulette Balle. (R. 33) Upon court hearing and approval Plaintiffs have settled all claims against Defendant Erickson. (R. 170) Consequently, the remaining dispute only involves Defendant and Appellee Kevin Roseman, the owner of the horse allegedly involved in the accident.

After some discovery had occurred, Defendant Roseman filed his first Motion for

Summary Judgment. The court denied Defendant's Motion reasoning that it could not rule as a matter of law that Defendant Roseman did not breach his duty of care to the deceased. (R. 136) The court found that Plaintiffs raised genuine issues of material fact regarding Defendant's alleged negligence that precluded the granting of summary judgment. (R. 136)

After both parties had completed additional discovery, Defendant Roseman renewed his Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 172) Upon oral argument and at the conclusion of the hearing on the Motion, the court determined as a matter of law that Defendant Roseman was not negligent. (R. 294) Additionally, the court concluded that assuming *arguendo*, that Defendant Roseman was negligent, he had no notice of a duty of care and therefore, without notice, there could be no breach of duty. (R. 294) The court issued an Order of Judgment granting Defendant Roseman's Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed Plaintiffs' Complaint with prejudice on the merits. This appeal followed.

FACTS

Viewed in the light most favorable to the Plaintiffs, as required by the standard of review, the simple facts of this case are as follows. On November 19, 1991, Paulette Balle, deceased, was fatally injured when the automobile she was driving collided with a horse on SR-73, west of Lehi, in Utah County, State of Utah. On the date of the accident, Defendant and Appellee Kevin Roseman owned a horse that was boarded on the property of his brother-in-law, Defendant Quinn Erickson. Roseman last saw his horse "in the

first week or two of November" of 1991. (R. 227) She was last seen by him on the Erickson property. (R. 223) Roseman did not sell the horse, she "just disappeared." (R. 224) When shown a photograph of the dead horse involved in the accident, Roseman stated that the markings on the dead horse were "similar" to the markings on his horse and that there was nothing in the photograph that would lead him to think the dead horse was not his horse. (R. 225)

On the morning after the accident, Utah County Sheriff Sergeant Rex N. Murdock and Deputy Richard L. Healey followed two (2) sets of tracks from the location of the dead horse back to and up the driveway of the Erickson property. (R. 214). Witnesses at the scene of the accident reported seeing a dark colored mule running with the horse that was hit. (R. 214) After following the tracks to the Erickson property, Sergeant Murdock observed a dark mule in the pasture behind the Erickson home. (R. 214)

Some time prior to the date of the accident in question, Shelby Taylor, a neighbor living near the Erickson property, helped capture a horse that had escaped from the Erickson pasture and was running unattended in the street. Mr. Taylor actually helped return the horse to the Erickson property. (R. 289)

Roseman entered into a written agreement with Quinn Erickson on May 7, 1989 in which Erickson gave express permission for Roseman to keep his animals on Erickson's property upon the condition that Roseman (i) furnish feed when needed; and (ii) maintain the fence and gates. (R. 217) By the terms of this agreement, Roseman accepted full responsibility for the health and safety of his animals while on Erickson's property. (R.

217)

The fence and gates, including the latch on the gate on the Erickson property were no different and were essentially in the same condition on the date of the accident as they were at the time of the taking of Roseman's deposition. (R. 218-19)

Plaintiffs' liability expert, Met Johnson, has previously been qualified as an expert at trial in the Fourth Judicial District Court in the case of Askew v. Hardman, Civil No. 91-0400665, relating to an automobile accident involving a horse that had escaped from a fenced-in area. (R. 209-11) Prior to rendering an opinion in the present matter, Mr. Johnson was provided with and read the depositions of Defendants Roseman and Erickson. He personally interviewed Utah County Sheriff Sergeant Rex N. Murdock, and he visited the Erickson property where he personally examined the fencing and gates. (R. 206-07) Mr. Johnson is of the opinion that the Roseman horse escaped through the gate at the end of the driveway of the Erickson property. (R. 198) The latch on the gate was so negligently constructed and maintained that the gate would not close securely and by merely bumping the gate the latch would come open and the gate by its own weight would swing open the width of "two refrigerators." (R. 204-05) While Mr. Johnson was inspecting the Erickson property, he twice saw the gate swing open after attempts to shut it. (R. 198, 203)

During the winter months when the snow in the pasture was too deep for the animals to feed, Roseman would feed his horse with hay that he would keep on the outside side of the gate. (R. 221-22) The hay was placed such that a horse would likely

bump the gate as it attempted to reach over the gate to feed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court improperly granted summary judgment in this matter because genuine issues of material fact are in dispute. Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that summary judgment is appropriate "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Utah R.Civ.P. 56(c). If there is any doubt or uncertainty concerning questions of fact, the doubt should be resolved in favor of the opposing party. Frisbee v. K & K Construction Co., 676 P.2d 387, 389 (Utah 1984). Thus, the court must evaluate all the evidence and all reasonable inferences fairly drawn from the evidence in a light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment. Id. at 389. Under Rule 56, it is not always required that the party opposing summary judgment proffer affidavits in order to avoid judgment against him. Rule 56(e) states specifically that a response in opposition to a motion must be supported by affidavits or other documents only in order to demonstrate that there is a genuine issue of fact for trial. Where the party opposed to the motion submits no documents in opposition, the moving party may be granted summary judgment only "if appropriate," that is, if he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Atkin, Wright & Miles, 681 P.2d 1258, 1261 (Utah 1984) (quoting Olwell v. Clark, 658 P.2d 585 (Utah 1982)).

In this case, the evidence in the record and the other documents submitted by

Plaintiffs in opposition to summary judgment demonstrate that Defendant Roseman owed a duty to Paulette Balle to use reasonable care to keep his horse from entering upon a highway. The evidence demonstrates that Roseman breached that duty in as much as he expressly assumed full responsibility to maintain the Erickson fence and gates to prevent his horse from escaping and he acted unreasonably under the circumstances. Further, the evidence shows that such breach of duty was the proximate cause of Plaintiffs' injury and Plaintiffs in fact suffered injury. Because Plaintiffs presented evidence to prove each and every element of the negligence claim, it was error for the trial judge to take the issues of negligence and breach of duty of care from the jury and rule as a matter of law that Defendant Roseman was not negligent and breached no duty to Paulette Balle.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT IMPROPERLY RULED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT DEFENDANT ROSEMAN WAS NOT NEGLIGENT, A QUESTION RESERVED FOR THE TRIER OF FACT.

Following the oral argument and hearing on the motion for summary judgment, the trial court concluded that there was no showing that Defendant Roseman was negligent. Utah courts have repeatedly held that the issue of negligence is a question of fact for the determination by the jury. Determination of negligence becomes a question of law only when undisputed facts permit only one reasonable conclusion. Marquez v. Pepsi Cola Bottling Co. of Salt Lake City, 838 P.2d 660 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

One of the disputed material facts at issue in this case is whether the horse

involved in the fatal collision with Paulette Balle was indeed the horse owned by Defendant Roseman. Defendant Roseman argued in support of his motion for summary judgment that Plaintiffs failed to show that he is the owner of the horse involved in the collision. (R. 191) Plaintiffs provided the trial court, however, with sufficient evidence for a jury to find that the horse involved in the accident was Defendant's horse. The morning after the November 19, 1991 accident, Utah County Sheriff Sergeant Rex Murdock and Deputy Richard Healey followed two sets of tracks from the location where the horse had been hit, back to and up the driveway of the Erickson property where Roseman's horse was being pastured. The tracks ended in front of the gate to the fenced area on the Erickson property. Mysteriously, Roseman's horse, which had been kept with a mule on the Erickson property "just disappeared" at this time. When asked in his deposition about the markings on a photo of the dead horse involved in the accident, Roseman admitted that his horse had "similar" markings and he indicated that there was nothing in the photo that made him think the horse involved in the accident was not his horse. (Addendum A)

Plaintiffs realize that the mere showing that the horse involved in the collision was owned by Defendant Roseman is not sufficient. Additionally, Plaintiffs realize that Utah courts have long held that "[t]he mere happening of [an] accident . . . does not prove that the defendants were negligent." Kitchen v. Cal Gas Company, Inc., 821 P.2d 458, 461 (Utah. Ct. App. 1991), *cert. denied*, 832 P.2d 476 (Utah 1992) (quoting Horsley v. Robinson, 112 Utah 227, 186 P.2d 592, 596 (1947)). Rather, Plaintiffs must prove each

and every element of the negligence claim. In granting a motion for summary judgment, a trial judge must consider each element of the claim under the appropriate standard of proof. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322, 106 S.Ct. 2548, 2553, 91 L.Ed.2d 265 (1986) (a party must make a sufficient showing to establish the existence of all essential elements of a claim on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial); Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 254, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 2513, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986) (a party must prove a claim with clear and convincing evidence at the summary judgment stage if that is the burden required at trial); Robinson v. Intermountain Health Care, 740 P.2d 262, 264 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) (in evaluating whether summary judgment should be granted, we must take into consideration the eventual standard of proof for each element of the claim at trial on the merits).

In a negligence action, the plaintiff has the burden of establishing four elements: "that the defendant owed the plaintiff a duty; that defendant breached the duty (negligence); that the breach of the duty was the proximate cause of plaintiff's injury; and that there was in fact injury." Kitchen at 461. (quoting Steffensen v. Smith's Management Corp., 820 P.2d 482, 485 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), *affd.*, 862 P.2d 1342 (Utah 1993)). In this case, Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-38 (1953 as amended) creates a duty upon Defendant Roseman to use reasonable care to prevent his horse from entering upon a highway.

Section 41-6-38 provides in part:

- (1) A person owning or in the possession or control of any livestock, may not willfully or negligently permit any of the livestock to stray or remain unaccompanied by a person in charge or control of the livestock upon a highway, both sides of which are adjoined by property which is separated

from the highway by a fence, wall, hedge, sidewalk, curb, lawn, or building.

The trial judge, in granting summary judgment in this matter, concluded that Defendant Roseman had no notice of any duty to act reasonably to prevent his horse from entering upon a highway unattended. The trial judge ruled that without notice, there could be no breach of duty. (R. 294) While the issue of whether a duty of care exists is a question of law to be determined by the court, see e.g., Hunsaker v. State, 870 P.2d 893 (Utah 1993), C.T. v. Martinez, 845 P.2d 246 (Utah 1992), the conclusion in this case that Roseman had no notice is clearly erroneous. Defendant Roseman entered into a written agreement with Defendant Quinn Erickson on May 7, 1989. (Addendum B) In this agreement, Erickson gave express permission for Roseman to keep his animals on Erickson's property upon the condition that Roseman (i) furnish feed when needed; and (ii) maintain the fence and gates. By the terms of this agreement, Roseman accepted full responsibility for the health and safety of his animals while on Erickson's property. This responsibility included making certain the fence and gates would reasonably prevent his horse from escaping from its pasture and entering a highway.

In addition, some time prior to the date of the accident, Shelby Taylor, a neighbor living near the Erickson property, personally helped capture a horse that had escaped from the Erickson property. While that horse was not one owned by Roseman, the prior escape provides evidence in the record that there was prior notice that the fence or gates were in a defective condition. It is therefore a question for the jury to determine whether, based upon this prior escape incident and the express terms of the pasturing agreement,

Roseman breached the duty to use reasonable care.

POINT II

THE COURT IMPROPERLY RULED AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT DEFENDANT ROSEMAN DID NOT BREACH A DUTY OF CARE OWED TO PLAINTIFFS. SUCH A DETERMINATION IS A QUESTION FOR THE JURY AND CANNOT BE APPROPRIATELY DECIDED IN SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

It is clear that Defendant Roseman owed a duty of care to Paulette Balle. Most importantly, Plaintiffs must show that Roseman was negligent and breached that duty. This court has noted that "[a]s a general proposition, summary judgment is inappropriate to resolve a negligence claim on its merits, and should be employed 'only in the most clear-cut case.'" Schreiter v. Wasatch Manor, Inc., 871 P.2d 570, 575 (Utah Ct. App. 1994), *cert. denied*, 879 P.2d 266 (Utah 1994) (quoting Ingram v. Salt Lake City, 733 P.2d 126, 126 (Utah 1987) (per curiam)), *cert. denied*, 789 P.2d 33 (Utah 1990). Further, "[o]f particular concern is the precept that '[o]rdinarily, whether a defendant has breached the required standard of care is a question of fact for the jury.'" Id. at 575. (quoting Jackson v. Dabney, 645 P.2d 613, 615 (Utah 1982)). Accordingly, summary judgment is improper unless the standard of care can be determined as a matter of law, "and reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion as to the defendant's negligence under the circumstances." Id. "Summary judgment should be granted with great caution in negligence cases." Doe v. Doe, 878 P.2d 1161, 1162 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (quoting Apache Tank Lines, Inc. v. Cheney, 706 P.2d 614, 615 (Utah 1985)).

The particular standard of care that Defendant Roseman owed Paulette Balle

cannot be determined as a matter of law, because "[t]he care to be exercised in any particular case depends upon the circumstances of that case and on the extent of foreseeable danger involved and must be determined as a question of fact. Schreiter at 575. (quoting DCR, Inc. v. Peak Alarm Co., 663 P.2d 433, 435 (Utah 1983)).

Accordingly, whether Defendant Roseman breached the required standard of care is a question for the jury, which cannot be appropriately decided in summary judgment.

Plaintiffs provided the trial court with sufficient evidence to support Plaintiffs' claim that Roseman was negligent. A reasonable mind could conclude that Roseman was negligent under the circumstances in allowing his horse to be pastured on property on which the gate to prohibit egress from the property would swing wide open if merely bumped. By written agreement with Erickson, Roseman agreed to be responsible for the safety of his own horse and to therefore accept responsibility for the fencing and gates on the Erickson property. As the owner of a horse, Defendant Roseman had the duty and responsibility to reasonably secure and pasture his horse. This responsibility was not abrogated when he pastured his horse on the Erickson property.

The question of whether Roseman acted reasonably under the circumstances is a question of fact and should be reserved for the jury. Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-38 provides that Roseman had a duty to maintain a secure area for his horse to run unattended and to not negligently or willfully permit it to enter upon a highway. The latch on the gate was so insufficient that twice while Plaintiffs' expert, Met Johnson, was on the Erickson property the latch came undone and the gate came wide open. (Addendum C) This was

not only the condition of the gate and latch at the time it was inspected by Met Johnson, it was also the condition of the gate and latch at the time of the accident.

The obvious insufficiency of the gate and latch was exacerbated by the fact that Roseman's horse was encouraged to bump against the gate to feed because Roseman stored his hay on the outside side of the gate. During the winter he would just throw the hay over the gate for his horse to eat. Met Johnson, Plaintiffs' expert, is of the opinion that placing feed next to the gate was a negligent act on the part of Roseman. Each of these acts of Defendant Roseman constitute genuine issues of material fact that a jury could reasonably conclude constitutes negligence and a breach of duty. Determination of negligence becomes a question of law only when undisputed facts permit only one reasonable conclusion. In this case, certainly more than one reasonable conclusion is possible. It is clearly a question for the jury.

CONCLUSION

The trial court improperly granted summary judgment in this matter because genuine issues of material fact exist between the parties. Plaintiffs have presented a prima facie case for negligence against Defendant Roseman and have introduced sufficient evidence to carry the burden of persuasion on each element of the negligence claim. Summary judgment is only appropriate when no issues of material fact exist and the case can therefore be submitted as a matter of law. In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, all facts and all inferences that can be reasonably drawn therefrom

are to be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion. Generally, questions of negligence are questions to be left to a jury and only become questions of law when the facts are undisputed and only one conclusion may be drawn.