1994

John T. Balle, Alisha Balle, Amber Balle, John T. Balle, Amie Balle, Ashlee Balle, Andrea Balle, Anjalee Balle, Amanda Balle v. Bryce Thomas, Quinn Erickson and Kevin Roseman : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction in this matter is proper pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-2a-3(2)(k).

ISSUE PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue presented is as follows:

Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment in this matter based upon its interpretation of Utah Code Annotated §41-6-38 and the uncontroverted evidence presented?

In reviewing the trial court's ruling on a summary judgment motion, this Court reviews the matter for correctness. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Garfield County, 811 P.2d 184 (Utah 1991).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES, RULES, AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

This matter is governed by Utah Code Annotated § 41-6-38:

TITLE 41. MOTOR VEHICLES
CHAPTER 6. TRAFFIC RULES AND REGULATIONS
ARTICLE 4 ACCIDENTS

Sec. 41-6-38. Livestock on highway--Restrictions--Collision, action for damages

(1) A person owning or in possession or control of any livestock, may not willfully or negligently permit any of the livestock to stray or remain unaccompanied by a person in charge or control of the livestock upon a highway, both sides of which are adjoined by property which is separated from the highway by a fence, wall, hedge, sidewalk, curb, lawn, or building. This subsection does not apply to range stock drifting onto any highway in going to or returning from their accustomed ranges.

(2) A person may not drive any livestock upon, over, or across any highway during the period from half an hour after sunset to half an hour before sunrise, without keeping a sufficient number of herders with warning lights on continual duty to open the road to permit the passage of vehicles.

(3) In any civil action brought by the owner, operator, or occupant of a motor vehicle or by their personal representatives or assignees, or by the owner of the livestock for damages caused by collision with any domestic animal or animals on a highway, there is no presumption that the collision was due to negligence on behalf of the owner or the person in possession of livestock.

As last amended by Chapter 138, Laws of Utah 1987.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Summary, the Appellants fail in three areas; they fail to cite relevant legal precedent defining the scope of duty owed to the public by the owner of livestock and they fail to direct the Court's attention to the binding precedent.

Secondly, Appellants claim a dispute of facts and rely upon the testimony of a witness that was not previously presented to the Court.

Lastly, the owner or possessor of livestock must have contributed to the animal's presence there in a tangible and direct way to be liable for damage resulting from their presence on a highway, appellants fail to present evidence which would support this conclusion in the trial court.

ARGUMENT

THIS APPEAL IS NOT WELL TAKEN BECAUSE APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO CITE THE RELEVANT LEGAL PRECEDENT

Appellant has failed to cite the relevant legal precedent to the Court in defining the scope of the duty owed to the public by the owner of livestock. Appellant does note the existence of Utah Code Annotated 41-6-38, but fails to direct the Court's attention to the binding precedent which interprets this statute.

The Utah Supreme Court held, in Rhiness v. Dansie, 472 P.2d 428 (Utah 1970), that the mere fact that an animal had escaped from its enclosure and was on the highway was not sufficient to show negligence on the part of the owner of the animal. The Court again upheld this interpretation of Utah Code Annotated § 41-6-38(3) and Salt Lake County Ordinance § 10-10-3 to mean that specific acts of the individual, directly allowing, sanctioning or encouraging the animal to be in the road were required in Hornsby v. Corp of Presiding Bishop, 758 P.2d 929 (Utah 1988), (adopting rule of Santanello v. Cooper, 475 P.2d 246 (Ariz. 1970)).

Appellants did not present evidence that Roseman sanctioned the presence of the horse on the highway. The uncontroverted evidence showed that the events complained of took place without his knowledge or presence, but in his absence. The testimony by both Roseman and Defendant Erickson, submitted to the trial court pursuant to Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56, was uncontroverted by Plaintiffs. The plaintiffs failed to show facts that would raise a material issue as to whether or not Defendant Roseman

specifically allowed and sanctioned the presence of his horse on the highway, as defined by the Supreme Court in these cases.

Plaintiffs presented opinion testimony that the latch securing the gate on the Erickson property was defective in design, allowing a clever enough horse to open the gate by use of its head, hindquarters, or other part of the body. (R203-202) Respondent Roseman asked the Court to assume *arguendo* that this theory was true, and view the facts and inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs, maintaining that this did not make out even a *prima facie* case against Roseman. The owner of the property is generally responsible for its condition, unless this is modified in some way. Here, the only possible modification that may have existed is the lease executed by Roseman and Erickson on May 7, 1989. (R217) This lease determines Roseman's affirmative duties in this agreement:

"1. He is to furnish feed when needed

2. Maintain fence gate"

This agreement does not place Roseman under a duty to improve the property in any way, only to repair breakage or wear and tear. Applying the plain meaning test to the word "maintain", it is not possible to read into it a duty to make improvements. Black's Law Dictionary defines the word "maintain" as follows:

Maintain. The term is variously defined as acts of repairs and other acts to prevent a decline, lapse or cessation from existing state or condition; bear the expense of; carry on; commence; continue; furnish means for subsistence or existence of; hold; hold or keep in an existing state or condition; hold or preserve in any particular state or condition; keep from change; keep from falling, declining or ceasing; keep in existence or

continuance; keep in force; keep in good order; keep in proper condition; keep in repair; keep up; preserve; preserve from lapse, decline failure or cessation; provide for; rebuild; repair; replace; supply with means of support; supply with what is needed; support; sustain; uphold. Negatively stated, it is defined as not to lose or surrender, not to suffer to fail or decline.

Under the plain terms of the agreement, Roseman was under a duty to keep the fence and gate in the same condition as he found them, to preserve them from decay. Any underlying design defect would be the responsibility of the latch's designer and builder and/or owner. Mr. Roseman was not the designer, builder or owner of said latch. Therefore, no legal basis was presented upon which the plaintiffs could have prevailed. Snyder v. Merkley, 693 P.2d 64 (Utah 1984). Summary Judgment was properly granted in this matter.

**SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER IN THIS MATTER
BECAUSE THERE IS NO DISPUTE AS TO FACTS.**

Appellants claim a dispute of facts, relying apparently upon the testimony of a witness that was not presented to the Court below. Appellants properly direct this Court's attention to Rule 56(e), which states that affidavits are only required when a party is claiming disputes of fact. Specifically, the Rule states:

When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. URCP 56(e)

This Court may not consider evidence not presented in the matter below. Finlayson v. Finlayson, 874 P.2d 843, 847 (Utah App. 1994); Low v. Bonacci, 788 P.2d 512, 513 (Utah 1990); LeBaron & Assoc. v. Rebel Enters., Inc., 823 P.2d 479, 483 (Utah App. 1991);

Salt Lake County v. Carlston, 776 P.2d 653, 655 (Utah App. 1989). A statement by counsel that a factual issue exists, unsupported by affidavit or other evidence, does not create an issue of fact. D&L Supply v. Saurini, 775 P.2d 420 (Utah 1989); Bradshaw v. Beaver City, 27 Utah 2d 135, 493 P.2d 643 (1972). Appellants are now attempting to bolster their case after the fact with evidence not presented at the trial court, in clear violation of Utah law.

**THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED UTAH CODE ANNOTATED
§ 41-6-38 GIVEN THE FACTS PRESENTED**

Under Utah Law, for an owner or possessor of livestock to be liable for damage resulting from their presence on a highway, the owner must have contributed to the animal's presence there in a tangible and direct way. Utah Code Annotated § 41-6-38; see e.g. Hornsby v. Corp. of Presiding Bishop, supra; Lee v. Mitchell Funeral Home Ambulance Service, 606 P.2d 259 (Utah 1980); Rhiness v. Dansie, supra; Hyrum Smith Estate Co. v. Petersen, 227 F.2d 4421 (10th Cir 1955). Appellants failed to produce any evidence of any negligent acts on the part of Defendant Roseman, but rested on a theory of negligent omissions, which is contrary to Utah law. Appellants have also failed to cite any of the precedent setting cases in this area, ignoring the binding precedent that applies to cases involving collisions with livestock.

With no duty imposed under these circumstances by the general law, we next should examine whether Respondent assumed any higher duty. This duty would need to come from the arrangements between Defendants Roseman and Erickson. Under the terms of the pasturing agreement, Defendant Roseman was obligated to maintain the fences

and gates in the condition that they were in when he began pasturing his animal(s) there. He was not under any obligation to improve the property, and the owner, Defendant Quinn Erickson, was responsible for the original construction and any improvements. It was uncontested that fence was maintained adequately, and it has been alleged by Plaintiffs that the horse used the gate to leave the pasture. Appellants failed to show a breach of any duty to either the appellants or to Defendant Erickson in this case which properly was dismissed on a Motion for Summary Judgment.

This case is governed by the law established in the above cited statute and cases. The rule explicitly set forth in these cases, is that the term "permit" means that the owner must directly allow, sanction or encourage the animal to be in the road, with the owner's knowledge and consent. See Hornsby, 758 P.2d 929 at 935 (specifically adopting the interpretation in Santanello v. Cooper, 475 P.2d 246 (Ariz. 1970).

The Supreme Court was clear when it stated the law. Rhiness v. Dansie, 472 P.2d 428 at 429-430.:

"In order for the plaintiffs to recover in this action, they must show two things: First, that the highway was fenced on both sides; and second that the horses got onto the highway through the negligence of the defendant . The mere fact that the animals escaped from the enclosure is not sufficient evidence, standing alone, to justify the submission of defendant's negligence to the jury.

The facts here are nearly identical to those in Rhiness. Here, The Appellants have stated that a horse was on the highway, and therefore, the enclosure was negligent. There is no record of any animal escaping from the subject enclosure before this incident.

(R202) Appellants, relying upon argument made by their counsel for the first time at oral argument in this matter, unsupported by Affidavits, have attempted to raise an issue of fact at this time.

(R 289) This assertion is not evidence and should not be considered. Even if this Court considers that a neighbor of Mr. Erickson's once returned a horse to the property, this still does not show affirmative acts of negligence on Mr. Roseman's part.

Appellants asserted below that Defendant Roseman was negligent in boarding his horse in a pasture with only a latch to secure the gate. That position was correctly rejected as not supported by Utah law. Rhiness, supra.

Respondent Roseman agreed to maintain the property in question, and it was uncontested at the time of summary judgment that the property did not deteriorate during the time of the lease. Plaintiffs' expert stated that the fences had been repaired sufficiently. Respondent Roseman fulfilled his duties under the lease, and any claims that the latch was "woefully insufficient" should be made against the designer and builder of the latch, Defendant Erickson. All that has been presented in this case has been speculative opinions unsupported by factual evidence. (R212-198)

There was no evidence presented that the gate was open the night of the accident. Appellants' expert stated that the gate would fall open, if not properly latched. (R 203) However, this would indicate, at most, that the last person to close the gate may not have secured it properly, or that the gate was not secured

properly. There is no evidence that the halter, or body part of the horse, came into contact with the latch. (R 202)

There are no witnesses, evidence or other facts to support Johnson's opinion. (R 202) All that Johnson actually observed was that if the gate was not properly closed, it could fall open. (R203-202)

These unsupported opinions do not amount to a charge of negligence. There is no duty under Utah law to devise a self-latching, self-locking apparatus on a pasture gate. No latch will hold a gate closed if not properly secured. It may be true that the last person to leave the pasture should be careful to secure the gate, but Appellants provided no evidence as to that person's identity. It was undisputed at the time of summary judgment that it was possible that someone could have opened the gate without Defendant Erickson's knowledge. If this could be done without the resident of the property knowing, it would seem even more likely that it could happen without the knowledge of an absent party, Respondent Roseman. Appellants failed at the time of summary judgment to show any dispute as to the facts, and failed to show any facts supporting a finding of negligence on the part of Defendant Roseman.

CONCLUSION

Summary Judgment was properly granted in this matter. Appellants have attempted to raise issues of contested fact by presenting evidence not given to the trial Court. Under the facts presented, Appellants failed to make a prima facie case of

negligence as specifically stated in Utah law, specifically, they failed to show any affirmative acts by Respondent Roseman sanctioning the presence of his horse on the highway. Rhiness v. Dansie, 472 P.2d 428 at 429-430.

Wherefore, Respondent Roseman respectfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the trial Court dismissing this action.